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TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at 31 MARCH 2019 (£ millions)

Note 31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17 31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 2,975            2,859            3,065            158               145               98                 

Short-term deposits 1,029            2,032            2,612            -                -                -                

Trade receivables 1,430            1,666            1,338            -                -                -                

Other financial assets 6 333               511               246               11                 9                   21                 

Inventories 7 3,772            3,953            3,639            -                -                -                

Other current assets 8 580               643               528               -                * -                * -                *

Current income tax assets 10                 10                 4                   -                * -                * -                *

Total current assets 10,129          11,674          11,432          169               154               119               

Non-current assets

Other financial assets 6 181               419               337               7                   1                   64                 

Loans to subsidiary corporations -                -                -                -                * -                * 8                   

Property, plant and equipment 9 6,617            7,559            6,041            -                -                -                

Intangible assets 10 5,632            6,770            6,178            -                -                -                

Investment in equity accounted investees 11 477               488               474               -                -                -                

Investment in subsidiary corporations 12 -                -                -                1,916            1,916            1,916            

Other Investment 11 69                 29                 -                -                -                -                

Other non-current assets 8 84                 81                 81                 -                -                -                

Deferred tax assets 13 530               426               525               -                -                -                

Total non-current assets 13,590          15,772          13,636          1,923            1,917            1,988            

Total assets 23,719          27,446          25,068          2,092            2,071            2,107            

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings 14 956               725               239               -                -                -                

Accounts payable 15 7,218            7,740            6,645            20                 -                * -                *

Other financial liabilities 16 1,053            1,205            2,145            7                   12                 6                   

Provisions 17 998               767               658               -                -                -                

Other current liabilities 18 679               562               501               -                -                -                

Current income tax liabilities 94                 160               154               -                -                * -                

Total current liabilities 10,998          11,159          10,342          27                 12                 6                   

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings 14 4,468            3,905            4,305            863               844               908               

Other financial liabilities 16 317               289               1,399            7                   8                   -                

Provisions 17 1,141            1,059            988               -                -                -                

Other non-current liabilities 18 521               454               362               -                -                -                

Employee benefit obligations 19 677               443               1,467            -                -                -                

Deferred tax liabilities 13 101               583               60                 -                -                -                

Total non-current liabilities 7,225            6,733            8,581            870               852               908               

Total liabilities 18,223          17,892          18,923          897               864               914               

Group Company
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TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  (cont'd)

As at 31 MARCH 2019

(£ millions)

Note 31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17 31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Equity

Share capital 20 1,628            1,628            1,422            1,628            1,628            1,422            

Reserves 3,869            7,924            4,728            (433)              (421)              (229)              

Equity attributable to owners of the

Company 5,497            9,552            6,150            1,195            1,207            1,193            

Non-controlling interests (1)                  2                    (5)                  -                -                -                

Total equity 5,496            9,554            6,145            1,195            1,207            1,193            

Total liabilities and equity 23,719          27,446          25,068          2,092            2,071            2,107            

* Amount is less than £1 million.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Group Company
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TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

(£ millions)

Note 2019 2018

Revenues 22               24,652              26,074              

Change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress (199)                  341                   

Purchase of products for sale (1,230)               (1,291)               

Material and other cost of sales 23               (14,560)             (15,765)             

Provision for loss of inventory 24 (c) -                    1                       

Employee cost 25               (2,916)               (2,825)               

Provision for impairment in Jaguar Land Rover's tangible and intangible assets 10               (3,105)               -                    

Employee separation cost 24 (a) (149)                  -                    

Employee cost-pension past service (cost)/credit 19, 24 (b) (17)                    437                   

24 (d) (60)                    -                    

Depreciation and amortisation (2,181)               (2,094)               

Other expenses 26               (5,620)               (5,448)               

Expenditure capitalised 27               1,579                1,615                

Other income (net) 206                   247                   

Foreign exchange gain / (loss) (net) (53)                    35                     

Finance income 28               37                     34                     

Finance expense (net) 28               (151)                  (128)                  

Share of profit from equity accounted investees 11               3                       252                   

Profit / (loss) before income tax (3,764)               1,485                

Income tax credit / (expense) 29               311                   (404)                  

Profit/(loss) for the year 29               (3,453)               1,081                

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Provision for costs of closure of operation of a subsidiary company

Group

Year ended March 31,
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TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Cont’d) 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

(£ millions)

Note 2019 2018

Profit / (loss) for the year (3,453)                1,081                 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss :

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation (272)                   544                    

Gain / (loss) on effective cash flow hedges of inventory (197)                   -                     

Income tax related to items that will not be reclassified subsequently 13 77                      (88)                     

(392)                   456                    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss :

Gain/(loss) on effective cash flow hedges (net) 92 2,442                 

Currency translation differences (8)                       (20)                     

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income that may

   be reclassified subsequently 13 (19)                     (462)                   

65                      1,960                 

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of tax (327)                   2,416                 

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year (3,780)                3,497                 

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

   Owners of the Company (3,454)                1,082                 

   Non-controlling interests 1                        (1)                       

(3,453) 1,081

Total comprehensive income/(expense) attributable to:

   Owners of the Company (3,781)                3,498                 

   Non-controlling interests 1                        (1)                       
(3,780)                3,497                 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Group
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TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

(£ millions)

Group 

Capital 

reserve on 

currency 

conversion

Capital 

reserve

Currency 

translation 

reserve

Hedging 

reserve

Cost of 

hedging 

reserve

Other 

reserves

Retained 

earnings

(Note 20) (Note 21) (Note 21)

Balance as at 1 April  2017 1,422         -                 (165)           (289)             (2,232)      (75)           25              7,464            6,150              (5)                6,145         

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year -             

    -Profit for the year -             -                 -             -               -           -             1,080            1,080              1                 1,081         

  -Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year (net of tax) -             -                 -             (20)               1,951       29            -             456               2,416              -              2,416         

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year -             -                 -             (20)               1,951       29            -             1,536            3,496              1                 3,497         

Transfer to other reserves -             -                 -             -               -           2                (2)                  -                  -              -             

Conversion of equity share capital from USD to GBP currency 206            (206)               -             -               -           -           -             -                -                  -              -             

Dividends (Note 31) -             -                 -             -               -           -           -             (94)                (94)                  -              (94)             

Acquisition of non-controlling interest -             -                 -             -               -           -           -             -                -                  10               10               

Distribution to non controlling interest -             -                 -             -               -           -           -             -                -                  (4)                (4)               
Balance as at March 31, 2018 1,628         (206)               (165)           (309)             (281)         (46)           27              8,904            9,552              2                 9,554         

Adjustment on initial application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 (net of tax) -             -                 -             -               (29)           2              -             -                (27)                  -              (27)             

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year

  -Profit for the year -             -                 -             -               -           -             (3,454)           (3,454)             1                 (3,453)        

  -Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year (net of tax) (8)                 (82)           (4)             -             (233)              (327)                -              (327)           

Total comprehensive income/(expense) -             -                 -             (8)                 (82)           (4)             -             (3,687)           (3,781)             1                 (3,780)        

Amounts removed from hedge reserve and recognised in inventory (141)         19            -                (122)                -              (122)           

Income tax related to amounts removed from hedge reserve and 

recognised in inventory -             -                 -             -               27            (4)             -             -                23                   -              23               

Dividends (Note 31) -             -                 -             -               -           -           -             (148)              (148)                -              (148)           

Distribution to non controlling interest -             -                 -             -               -           -           -             -                -                  (4)                (4)               

Balance as at March 31, 2019 1,628         (206)               (165)           (317)             (506)         (33)           27              5,069            5,497              (1)                5,496         

ReservesShare 

capital 

Equity 

attributable to 

owners of the 

Company

Non-

controlling 

interests

Total  

equity
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TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Company (£ millions)

Share capital
Capital reserve on Equity 

Currency Conversion
Capital reserve

Accumulated 

losses
Total equity

(Note 20) (Note 21)

Balance as at 1 April 2017 1,422              -                                           (20)                         (209)                    1,193                     

Profit for the period, representing total comprehensive

    income for the period -                 -                                           -                         108                     108                         

Transactions with owner  recognised directly in equity

    Conversion of equity Capital from USD currency to GBP Currency 206 (206)                                         -                         -                      -                         

    Dividends (Note 32) -                 -                                           -                         (94)                      # (94)                         

Total contributions by and distribution to owners 206                 (206)                                         -                         14                       14                           

Balance as at 31 March 2018 1,628              (206)                                         (20)                         (195)                    1,207                     

Profit for the period, representing total comprehensive

    income for the period -                 -                                           -                         136                     136                         

Transactions with owner  recognised directly in equity

    Dividends (Note 32) -                 -                                           -                         (148)                    # (148)                       

Total contributions by and distribution to owners -                 -                                           -                         (12)                      (12)                         

Balance as at 31 March 2019 1,628              (206)                                         (20)                         (207)                    1,195                     

#

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Reserve

Whilst the Company has accumulated losses, dividends were paid out of the profits for each of the respective financial periods.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company paid final dividend of GBP 13 million out of FY 17-18 profits.
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TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

(£ millions)

2019 2018

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit / (loss) before tax for the year (3,764)              1,485               

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 2,181               2,094               

Provision for impairment in Jaguar Land Rover 3,105               -                   

Employee cost-pension past service (cost)/credit 17                    (437)                 

Employee separation cost 149                  -                   

Provision for closure of operation of a subsidiary company 60                    -                   

Loss on sale of assets 59                    23                    

Write down of tangible assets 18                    18                    

Write down of intangible assets -                   46                    

Loss from diminution in the valuation of inventories 6                      -                   

Write back of provision for loss of inventory -                   (1)                     

Provision/(reversal) for doubtful accounts 4                      6                      

Finance expense (net) 151                  123                  

Finance income (37)                   (34)                   

Foreign exchange loss on loans 79                    (86)                   

Foreign exchange loss/(gain) on derivatives 74                    (75)                   

Foreign exchange loss/(gain) on other items (69)                   109                  

Unrealised loss/(gain) on commodities 34                    2                      

Fair value gain on equity investment (26)                   -                   

Share of profit from equity accounted investees (3)                     (252)                 

Cash flows before movements in working capital                 2,038                 3,021 

Trade receivables 237                  (307)                 

Other financial assets 61                    (265)                 

Other current assets 124                  (26)                   

Inventories 160                  (312)                 

Other non-current assets (3)                     (5)                     

Accounts payable (446)                 593                  

Other current liabilities 114                  37                    

Other financial liabilities (24)                   136                  

Other non-current liabilities (23)                   52                    

Provisions 170                  164                  

Cash generated from operations                 2,408                 3,088 

Income tax paid (228)                 (313)                 

Net cash generated from operating activities                 2,180                 2,775 

Group
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TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cont'd)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

(£ millions)

2019 2018

Cash flows used in investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment                 (1,599)              (2,144)

Purchase of other investment                      (14)                   (25)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment                         4                     -   

Cash paid for intangible assets                 (1,785)              (1,615)

Investment in short-term deposits                 (2,478)              (5,518)

Redemption of short-term deposits                  3,552               6,043 

Movement in restricted cash                        -                       (6)

Acquisition of Subsidiary (net of cash acquired)                        -                        6 

Dividends received                       22                  206 

Finance income received                       35                    34 

Net cash used in investing activities                 (2,263)              (3,019)

Cash flows used in financing activities

Finance expense and fees paid (239)                  (183)               

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 1,221                 1,004              

Proceeds from issuance of short-term debt 773                    609                 

Repayment of short-term debt (829)                  (601)               

Payment of lease liabilities (2)                       (4)                   

Repayment of long-term debt (547)                  (630)               

Distribution to non-controlling interest (3)                       (5)                   

Dividends paid (148)                  (94)                 

Net cash from financing activities                     226                    96 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents                     143                 (148)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,859                 3,065              

Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents (27)                     (58)                 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year                  2,975               2,859 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Group
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1 General 
TML Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“the Company”) and its subsidiary corporations are collectively referred to as (“the Group”). 
The Company (Registration No.200802595C) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal place of business and the 
registered office at 9 Battery Road, # 15-01, MYP Centre, Singapore 049910. The financial statements are expressed 
in Pound Sterling (GBP or £) and rounded to the nearest million GBP (£ million) unless otherwise stated.  
 

The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The subsidiary corporations held by the Company 
include Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc since date of incorporation and Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd, 
Tata Motors (Thailand) Ltd, Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Ltd and PT Tata Motors Indonesia which were acquired 
from its holding Company, Tata Motors Limited during 2014 and 2015. In 2016, the Company has subscribed to 99% 
shareholding of TMNL Motors Nigeria Ltd.  
 

The principal activities of joint ventures, associates and subsidiary corporations are disclosed in Notes 11 and 12 to the 
financial statements respectively. 
 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in 
equity of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 
June 2019. 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

a. Basis of accounting 
 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis except for certain financial 

instruments which are measured at fair value, and are drawn up in accordance with the Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards (International) SFRS(I). These are the Group’s first financial statements prepared in 
accordance with SFRS(I) and SFRS(I) 1 First time adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) has been applied. In the previous financial years, the financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRS). An explanation of how the transition to SFRS(I) 
and application of SFRS(I) 9 and SFRS(I) 15 have affected the reported financial position and financial performance 
is provided in note 2a(iii).  

  

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the assets. 
  
 Going concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis notwithstanding the Group's net current 
liabilities position of £869 million (2018: current asset £515 million) which the directors consider to be appropriate 
for the following reasons. 

The directors have assessed the financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2019 (net assets of £5,496 million 
(2018: £9,554 million)) and the projected cash flows and financial performance of the Group for the period to 31 
March 2021. After consideration of a reasonably possible downside scenario (a reduction in forecast sales volumes 
of 10%) as well as a no-deal Brexit scenario, the Company forecasts sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they 
fall due throughout the assessment period even if no new funding is sought. 

 Therefore, the directors consider, after making appropriate enquiries and taking into consideration the risks and 
uncertainties facing the Group that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operation as a going concern 
for the foreseeable future and is able to meet its obligations linked to the borrowings in place. Accordingly, the 
directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these consolidated and parent company financial 
statements. 

 

 Measurement of fair values 
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
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estimated using another valuation technique.  In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when 
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment 
transactions that are within the scope of SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the 
scope of SFRS(I) 1-17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, 
such as net realisable value in SFRS(I) 1-2 Inventories or value in use in SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets. 

  

 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

  

 Level 1 quoted prices in an active market includes financial instruments that are measured by reference to 
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities; 

 Level 2 valuation techniques with observable inputs hierarchy includes financial assets and liabilities 
measured using input other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 

 

 Level 3 valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs includes financial assets and liabilities 
measured using inputs that are not based on observable market data (Unobservable inputs). Fair values 
are determined in whole or in part using a valuation model based on assumptions that are neither 
supported by prices from observable current market transactions in the same instrument nor are they 
based on available market data. 
 

Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires the use of judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period.  Those that are significant to the Group 

are discussed separately below. 

Note 10 provides further details of the impairment charge recognised in the 12 month period ended 31 March 2019, 
including disclosing additional sensitivities performed. 

   

(i)    Judgements 
 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 
 

Revenue recognition: Vehicle revenue, as the primary source of income for the Group, is recognised when control 
of the vehicle passes to the customer, which the Group has assessed is when the vehicle is either despatched or 
held on behalf of the customer but depends on the underlying terms of the customer contract. Control of an asset 
refers to having the ability to direct the use of the asset and obtain substantially all of the remaining economic 
benefit. 

  

The transfer of control depends on the consideration of a number of facts and circumstances surrounding the 
relevant transaction, such as the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, transfer of legal title, transfer of physical 
possession, customer acceptance, and whether or not an entity has a present right to payment. The Group 
determines the transfer of control with reference to those factors, thus ultimately driving revenue recognition. 

  

In some instances, the Group recognises revenue on a bill-and-hold basis where control of the vehicle has been 
transferred to the customer but physical possession is retained by the Group (for example, within a vehicle holding 
compound) until a future point in time. Revenue is recognised on the meeting of bill-and-hold criteria, which are 
considered to be met as the reason for the bill-and-hold is substantive (as the customer requests JLR to retain 
possession, usually due to a lack of available space at their own premises), the vehicles are identifiable as 
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separately belonging to the customer (on the basis that each vehicle has a unique Vehicle Identification Number), 
the vehicle must be ready for physical transfer to the customer (which it is, given that it is fully built and safety-
checked off the manufacturing line), and the Group does not have the ability to use the vehicle or direct it elsewhere. 

Assessment of cash-generating units: The Group has determined that there is one cash-generating unit.  This is 
on the basis that there are no smaller groups of assets that can be identified with certainty which generate specific 
cash flows that are independent of the inflows generated by other assets or groups of assets.  Refer to note 10. 

Capitalisation of product engineering costs: The Group undertakes significant levels of research and 
development activity and for each vehicle program a periodic review is undertaken.  The Group applies judgement in 
determining at what point in a vehicle program's life cycle the recognition criteria under SFRS(I) 1-38 are satisfied 
and estimates the proportion of central overhead allocated. If a later point had been used then this would have had 
the impact of reducing the amounts capitalised as product engineering costs if central overheads had not been 
allocated it would have reduced the amount capitalised by £146 million. 

Deferred tax asset recognition: The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an 
assessment of the probability that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and tax loss carry-forwards can be utilised. In addition, significant judgement is required in assessing the 
impact of any legal or economic limits or uncertainties in various tax jurisdictions 
 
The carrying value of equity accounted investments are disclosed in note 11. 

 

(ii) Estimates and assumptions 
The areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are as described below.  The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. Significant estimates are those that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next year. Other estimates are those that may affect 
carrying amounts in the longer-term. 
 

Significant estimates 
Impairment of intangible and tangible fixed assets: The Group tests annually whether indefinite lived intangible 
fixed assets have suffered any impairment.  The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is based on the 
higher of value in use and the fair value less cost of disposal. Value in use is calculated from cash flow projections 
generally over five years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, and extrapolated beyond five years 
using estimated long-term growth rates.  Key assumptions and sensitivities for impairment are disclosed in note 10.  
The Group has considered it appropriate to include additional sensitivities for the year ended 31 March 2019 for 
further transparency. 
 

Retirement benefit obligation: The present value of the post-employment benefit obligations depends on a number 
of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions.  The assumptions used in 
determining the net cost/ (income) for pensions include the discount rate, inflation and mortality assumptions.  Any 
changes in these assumptions will impact upon the carrying amount of post-employment benefit obligations, key 
assumptions and sensitivities for post-employment benefit obligations are disclosed in note 19. 
 

Other estimates 
Investment in Equity accounted investment: At each balance sheet date or when there are indicators of 
impairment, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that the carrying value of equity accounted 
investments may be impaired. As a result of the slowdown in the Chinese automotive market, at 31 March 2019, the 
Group’s investment in Cherry Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Ltd was tested for impairment in accordance 
with applicable SFRS(I) 1-36 by comparing the carrying value of the investment to its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is dependent on a wide range of assumptions, including sales volume forecasts, operating 
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margin, capital expenditure and discount rate. These assumptions are primarily based on a combination of the 
investment’s historical performance, the Group’s latest internal forecasts and market data on the expectation for the 
Chinese automotive market. The estimated recoverable value of the investment is higher than the carrying value. If 
the assumptions do not materialise, in whole or in part, these will impact the entity’s expected future cash flows and 
may result in a future impairment. The Group used a discount rate of 10.80% in the value in use calculation. A  
discount rate of 11.5% would result in a value in use equal to the carrying amount of the investment. 
 

Product warranties: The Group provides product warranties on all new vehicle sales.  Provisions are generally 
recognised when vehicles are sold or when new warranty programs are initiated. Based on historical warranty claim 
experience, assumptions have to be made on the type and extent of future warranty claims and customer goodwill 
as well as on possible recall campaigns. These assessments are based on experience of the frequency and extent 
of vehicle faults and defects in the past.  In addition, the estimates also include assumptions on the amounts of 
potential repair costs per vehicle and the effects of possible time or mileage limits.  The provisions are regularly 
adjusted to reflect new information.  Refer to note 17.  

The Group also has back-to-back contractual arrangements with its suppliers in the event that a vehicle fault is proven 
to be a supplier's fault.  Estimates are made of the expected reimbursement claims based upon historical levels of 
recoveries by supplier, adjusted for inflation and applied to the population of vehicles under warranty at the reporting 
date.  Supplier reimbursement claims are presented as separate assets in note 17. 

Variable marketing expense: The Group offers sales incentive in the form of variable marketing expense to 
customers which varies depending on the timing and customer of any subsequent sale of the vehicle.  This sales 
incentive is accounted for as revenue reduction and is constrained to a level that is highly probable not to reverse the 
amount of revenue recognised when any associated uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The Group estimated the 
expected sales incentive by market and considers uncertainties including competitor pricing, ageing of dealer stock 
and local market conditions. The constraint on variable consideration is estimated with reference to historical 
accuracy, the current position of market conditions, and a future-looking assessment considering relevant geopolitical 
factors. 

  

Uncertain tax provisions: Tax provisions are recognised for uncertain tax positions where a risk of an additional tax 
liability has been identified and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that tax.  Measurement is 
dependent on management’s expectations of the outcome of decisions by tax authorities in the various tax 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.  This is assessed on a case-by-case basis using in-house experts, 
professional firms and previous experience. Where no provision is required the exposure is disclosed as a contingent 
liability in note 33 unless the likelihood of an outflow of economic benefits is remote. 

 

(iii) Explanation of transition to SFRS(I)and adoption of new standards 
In December 2017, the Accounting Standards Council (ASC) issued the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (SFRS(I)). SFRS(I) comprises standards and interpretations that are equivalent to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) at 31 
December 2017 that are applicable for annual period beginning on 1 January 2018. Singapore-incorporated 
companies that have issued, or are in the process of issuing, equity or debt instruments for trading in a public market 
in Singapore, will apply SFRS(I) with effect from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.  
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(International) (SFRS(I)).  
 

The accounting policies set out in note 2(b) have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2019, the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 31 March 
2018 and in the preparation of the opening SFRS(I) statement of financial position at 1 April 2017 (the Group's date of 
transition), subject to the mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions under SFRS(I) 1.  
 

F-101



TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 

23 

 

The application of the mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions in SFRS(I) 1 did not have any significant impact 
on the financial statements. 
 

In addition to the adoption of the new framework, the Group also concurrently applied the following SFRS(I)s, 
interpretations of SFRS(I)s and requirements of SFRS(I)s which are mandatorily effective from the same date.  

• SFRS(I) 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers which includes clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers issued by the IASB in April 2016;  

• SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments which includes amendments arising from IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 
issued by the IASB in September 2016;  

• requirements in SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment arising from the amendments to IFRS 2 – Classification 
and measurement of share-based payment transactions issued by the IASB in June 2016;  

•  requirements in SFRS(I) 1-40 Investment Property arising from the amendments to IAS 40 – Transfers of 
investment property issued by the IASB in December 2016;  

•  requirements in SFRS(I) 1 arising from the amendments to SFRS(I) 1 – Deletion of short-term exemptions 
for first-time adopters issued by the IASB in December 2016;  

•  requirements in SFRS(I) 1-28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures arising from the amendments 
to IAS 28 – Measuring an associate or joint venture at fair value issued by the IASB in December 2016; and  

•  SFRS(I) INT 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration.  
 

The application of the above standards and interpretations do not have a material effect on the financial statements, 
except for SFRS(I) 15 and SFRS(I) 9.  

 
SFRS(I) 9 
SFRS(I) 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and introduces a new impairment model for financial assets and new rules for hedge accounting.  
 

The Group has undertaken an assessment of classification and measurement on transition and has not identified a 
material impact on the financial statements given that equity investments which are not equity accounted are valued 
at fair value through profit or loss. 
 

The impact on the categorisation of financial assets and liabilities within scope of SFRS(I) 9 is summarised below: 

 FRS 39 Category SFRS(I) 9 Category FRS 39 
carrying 
amount 
(1 April 
2018) 
£million 

SFRS(I) 9 
carrying 
amount 
(1 April 
2018) 
£million 

Financial Assets     

Other investments Fair value through profit 
and loss 

Fair value through profit and 
loss – mandatorily measured 

29 29 

Trade receivables Loans & receivables Amortised cost 1,666 1,666 

Cash & cash 
equivalents 

Loans & receivables Amortised cost 2,859 2,859 

Short-term deposits & 
other investments 

Held to maturity Amortised cost 36 36 

Short-term deposits & 
other investments 

Loans & receivables Amortised cost 1,996 1,996 

Restricted cash Loans & receivables Amortised cost 22 22 

Derivative financial 
instruments 

Fair value through profit 
and loss 

Fair value through profit and 
loss – mandatorily measured 

551 551 

Contract assets Loans & receivables Amortised cost 35 35 
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Other Loans & receivables Amortised cost 89 89 
     

Financial Liabilities     

Accounts payable Other financial liabilities Amortised cost 7,740 7,740 

Borrowings Other financial liabilities Amortised cost 4,630 4,630 

Interest accrued Other financial liabilities Amortised cost 43 43 

Derivative financial 
instruments 

Fair value through profit 
and loss 

Fair value through profit and 
loss – mandatorily measured 

939 939 

Other Other financial liabilities Amortised cost 14 14 
 

The Group has undertaken an assessment of the impairment provisions, especially with regards to trade 
receivables and has applied the simplified approach under the standard. For all principal markets, the Group 
operates with major financial institutions who take on the principal risks of sales to customers and consequently the 
Group receives full payment for these receivables between 0–30 days. Therefore the Group has concluded that 
there is no material impact under the standard for remeasurement of impairment provisions and no transition 
adjustments have been made. 
 

The Group has undertaken an assessment of its hedge relationships and has concluded that the Group’s current 
hedge relationships qualified as continuing hedges upon the adoption of SFRS(I) 9. The Group has identified a 
change with respect to the treatment of the cost of hedging, specifically the time value of the foreign exchange 
options and foreign currency basis spread included in the foreign exchange forwards and cross-currency interest 
rate swaps. The time value of foreign exchange options and the foreign currency basis spread included in the 
foreign exchange forwards and cross-currency interest rate swaps is now recorded in a separate component of the 
statement of other comprehensive income. Amounts accumulated in equity for hedges of non-financial items will 
now be recognised as an adjustment to that non-financial item (i.e. inventory) when recorded on the consolidated 
balance sheet and this adjustment has been made on a prospective basis from 1 April 2018. As such, the Group 
has a £27 million reduction in net assets on transition to SFRS(I) 9. 
 

As required under the transition rules of SFRS(I) 9, comparative periods have been restated only for the 
retrospective application of the cost of hedging approach for the time value of the foreign exchange options and 
also the Group’s voluntary application of foreign currency basis spread included in the foreign exchange forwards 
and cross-currency interest rate swaps as a cost of hedging. Accordingly, the information presented for prior 
periods is not wholly comparable to the information presented for the current year. 
 

Further, an additional charge of £5 million has been recognised for the financial year ended 31 March 2018 
representing the loss recognised on the modification of the Group’s undrawn revolving credit facility. 
 
The following table show the impact on the Consolidated statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive 
income for the years ended 31 March 2018 and on the statement of financial position as at 1 April 2017, 31 March 
2018 and 1 April 2019. 
 

Consolidated statement of financial position: 

 1 April 2017 

 FRS framework SFRS(I) 9 SFRS(I) framework 

Total assets 25,068 - 25,068 
    

Total Liabilities 18,923 - 18,923 
    

Equity    
Share Capital 1,422 - 1,422 
Reserves    
-Hedging Reserve (2,310) 78 (2,232) 
-Cost of hedging Reserve - (75) (75) 
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-Other reserve caption (429) - (429) 
Retained earnings 7,467 (3) 7,464 
Non-controlling interest (5) - (5) 
Total equity 6,145 - 6,145 
    

Total liabilities and equity 25,068 - 25,068 

 
 

 31 March 2018 1 April 2018 

 FRS 
framework 

SFRS(I) 9 SFRS(I) 
framework 

SFRS(I) 9 SFRS(I) 
framework 

Assets      

Inventories 3,953 - 3,953 (27) 3,926 

Other non-current assets 86 (5) 81 - 81 

Other asset captions 23,412 - 27,446 (27) 27,419 

Total assets 27,451 (5) 27,446 (27) 27,419 
      

Liabilities      

Deferred tax liabilities 584 (1) 583 - 583 

Other non-current liabilities caption 17,309 - 17,309 - 17,309 

Total liabilities 17,893 (1) 17,892 - 17,892 
      

Equity      

Share capital 1,628 - 1,628 - 1,628 

Reserves      

-Hedging reserve (345) 64 (281) (29) (310) 

-Cost of hedging reserve - (46) (46) 2 (44) 

-Other reserve caption (653) - (653) - (653) 

-Retained earnings 8,926 (22) 8,904 - 8,904 

Non-controlling interest 2 - 2 - 2 

Total equity 9,558 (4) 9,554 (27) 9,527 
       

Total liabilities and equity 27,451 (5) 27,446 (27) 27,419 

 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income: 

 Year ended 31 March 2018 

 FRS 
framework 

SFRS(I) 9 SFRS(I) 15 SFRS(I) 
framework 

Revenue 26,382 - (308) 26,074 

Other expenses (5,889) - 441 (5,448) 

Other income (net) 380 - (133) 247 

Foreign exchange gain / (loss) (net) 54 (19) - 35 

Finance expense (net) (123) (5) - 128 

Other profit or loss caption (19,295) - - (19,295) 

Profit before tax 1,509 (24) - 1,081 

Income tax expense (409) 5 - (404) 

Profit for the year 1,100 (19) - 1,081 

Total items that will not be reclassified subsequently 
profit or loss  

456 - - 456 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or     
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loss: 

-Gain / (loss) on cash flow hedges (net) 2,423 19 - 2,442 

-Currency translation differences (20) - - (20) 

-Income tax related to items that may be reclassified (458) (4) - (462) 

Other comprehensive income / (expense) for the year 
net of tax 

2,401 15 - 2,416 

Total comprehensive income / (expense) for the year 3,501 (4) - 3,497 

 
SFRS(I) 15 
The new standard replaces the requirements under FRS 18 Revenue and FRS 11 Construction Contracts, as well 
as the related interpretations. The primary purpose of the new standard is to specify a set of consistently applicable 
underlying revenue recognition principles across all sectors, industries, and types of arrangements. As a result, the 
Group has amended its accounting policy for revenue recognition as described on the following pages, and in Note 
22 
 

The Group adopted SFRS(I) 15 in its financial statement using the retrospective approach. All requirements of 
SFRS(I) 15 have been applied retrospectively and the information presented for year ended 31 March 2018 has 
been restated. 
 

SFRS(I) 15 describes a comprehensive, logical five-step model for determining revenue recognition, including the 
amount and timing upon which revenue is recognized. It requires the Group: 
 

1. To identify the contract with a customer; 
2. To identify the related performance obligations and distinct promises made by the Group to the customer within 

the contract; 
3. To determine the transaction price, representing the amount of consideration that the Group expects to be 

entitled to under the contract; 
4. To allocate that contractual transaction price to each performance obligation on a stand-alone selling price basis 

(or a valid, reasonable alternative if the stand-alone selling price is not available), and; 
5. To recognise revenue at a point in time or over time depending on the satisfaction of each performance 

obligation. 
  

 This coincides with when the underlying control of a good or service is transferred to the customer. 
 

The implementation of SFRS(I) 15 has no impact on the timing of revenue recognition associated to the sale of the 
physical vehicles, parts, and accessories, being the Group’s core revenue-generating streams, and ultimately 
remains in a manner consistent with prior years. The Group considers that the primary impact of SFRS(I) 15 on the 
accounting treatment for its operations is as follows: 

 

Sales with multiple performance obligations: Previously, the Group accounted for separately identifiable 
components of sales in accordance with FRS 18. Under SFRS(I) 15, the Group considers additional performance 
obligations that are required to be accounted for appropriately on a stand-alone selling price basis, for example, 
additional obligations of the Group when selling vehicles to its customers, including transportation. 

 

This has further resulted in considerations of whether the Group is a principal or an agent in fulfilling these 
performance obligations, given the focus on whether or not it controls the good or service being transferred to the 
customer. As a principal, the Group itself considers that it is ultimately responsible for fulfilling that obligation to the 
customer and as an agent, the Group considers that it arranges for an obligation on behalf of its customer. The 
difference in accounting treatment is to present revenues and costs on a gross basis as a principal, and on a net 
basis as an agent. The impact of this for the year ending 31 March 2019 is a reclassification of £330 million (2018: 
£441 million) of costs from ‘Other expenses’ to ‘Revenue’. 
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Consideration payable to customers: The Group supports its global retail network (being customers of the 
Group) through various marketing, training, and development initiatives. This results in disbursements made either 
directly to its customers, or to third parties on behalf of its customers. The Group has considered whether a service 
that can be fair valued is received in exchange for making such disbursements, in which case an expense 
continues to be recognised as under the previous accounting policy. If not, then such amounts are treated as 
reductions to revenue as part of the overall customer relationship, as they ultimately reduce the amount of 
consideration that the Group is entitled to as part of the customer contract. The impact of this for the year ending 31 
March 2019 is a reclassification of £85 million of costs from ‘Other expenses’ to ‘Revenue’. 
 
Classification of revenue vs. other Income: Previously the Group’s policy was to recognise non-core Group 
income within ‘Other Income’ in the financial statements. Under SFRS(I) 15, the Group has reassessed its income 
streams with regards to their scope under the standard. As a result, the Group now records income within 
‘Revenue’ that was previously recognised within ‘Other Income’ (primarily being royalty income and other retailer-
related income). This arises from the interpretation of the definition of ‘Revenue’ within SFRS(I) 15, particularly 
focusing on what is considered an output of the ‘ordinary activities’ of the Group. The impact of this for the year 
ending 31 March 2019 is a reclassification of £112 million (2018: £133 million) from ‘Other income’ to ‘Revenue’. 

 

Estimation considerations: SFRS(I) 15 requires the Group to consider the application of its revenue recognition 
principles, and to ensure that revenue is depicted in a way that reflects the amount of consideration that it expects 
to be entitled to. With reference to the estimation of variable consideration, the Group has enhanced its approach to 
ensure that revenue is constrained appropriately such that it is not highly probable that a significant reversal in the 
amount of revenue recognised will occur when any related uncertainty is subsequently resolved. 
 

Warranty: Previously, the Group accounted for all warranty as a cost provision in accordance with FRS 37. Under 
SFRS(I) 15, the Group has assessed whether the warranty provided includes a service element (i.e. going beyond 
simply providing an assurance that a good continues to meet its agreed-upon specification) and accounts for these 
services as performance obligations associated with the sale of the vehicle. The Group now accounts for a 
proportion of service type obligations as a contract liability on a stand-alone selling price basis instead of a warranty 
cost provision. This contract liability will be unwound over the period the services are available and provided to the 
customer. The associated costs are expensed as incurred. 
 

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
 

Applicable to financial statements for the year 2020 and thereafter 
 

The following new SFRS(I)s, amendments to and interpretations of SFRS(I)s are effective for annual periods 
beginning after 1 April 2018: 
 

Applicable to 2020 financial statements 
• SFRS(I) 16 Leases 
• SFRS(I) INT 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
• Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-28) 
• Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to SFRS(I) 9) 
 

Applicable to 2022 financial statements 
• SFRS(I) 17 Insurance Contracts 
 

Mandatory effective date deferred 
• Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture   
    (Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I) 1-28). 
 

The Group has assessed the estimated impact that initial application of SFRS(I) 16 will have on the financial 
statements. The Group’s assessment of SFRS(I) 16, which is expected to have a significant impact on the Group, is 
as described below: 
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SFRS(I) 16 
SFRS(I) 16 Leases is effective for the year beginning 1 April 2019 for the Group. This standard replaces FRS 17 
Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases - Incentives and 
SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of the Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease interpretations. Under 
SFRS(I) 16, lessee accounting is based on a single model, resulting from the elimination of the distinction between 
operating and finance leases. All leases will be recognised on the balance sheet with a right-of-use asset 
capitalised and depreciated over the estimated lease term together with a corresponding liability that will reduce 
over the same period with an appropriate interest charge recognised. 
 

The Group will elect to apply the exemptions for leases with a lease term of 12 months or less (short-term leases) 
and for leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. The lease payments associated with those leases are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term or another systematic basis.  
 

The Group is applying the modified retrospective approach on transition under which the comparative financial 
statements will not be restated. The cumulative impact of the first-time application of SFRS(I) 16 is recognised as 
an adjustment to opening equity as at 1 April 2019. 
 

The Company has elected to use the following practical expedients permitted by the Standard:  
• On initial application, SFRS(I) 16 has only been applied to contracts that were previously classified as leases 
under IFRIC 4; 
• Regardless of the original lease term, lease arrangements with a remaining duration of less than 12 months will 
continue to be expensed to the statement of profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term; 
• Short-term and low value leases will be exempt; 
• The lease term has been determined with the use of hindsight where the contract contains options to extend or 
terminate the lease; 
• The discount rate applied as at transition date is the incremental borrowing rate corresponding to the remaining 
lease term. 
• The measurement of a right-of-use asset excludes the initial direct costs at the date of initial application. 
 

The financial impact assessment made by the Group is preliminary as not all transaction work requirements have 
been finalised. As at the date of initial application, it is expected that net assets will be adjusted only insignificantly. 
 

b. Basis of consolidation  
 

 Subsidiary corporations 
 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has power over the 

investee, is exposed or has rights to variable return from its involvement with the investee, and has the ability to use 
its power to affect its returns.  In assessing control, potential voting rights that currently are exercisable are taken 
into account, as well as other contractual arrangements that may influence control.  

 

           Inter-company transaction and balances including unrealised profits are eliminated in full on consolidation.           
The results of subsidiary corporations acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the 
effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 

 

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiary corporations to bring their 
accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the Group. 

 

 Joint ventures and associates (equity-accounted investees)  
 Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual 

agreement and requiring unanimous consent for decisions about the relevant activities of the entity, being those 
activities that significantly affect the Group’s returns.  Associates are those entities in which the Group has 
significant influence, but not control or joint control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial 
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and operating policy decisions of the investee and is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20 and 50 
per cent of the voting power of the investee. 

 
 Joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognised initially at cost.  The 

Group’s investment includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment losses.  The 
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the income and expenses, other comprehensive 
income, and equity movements of equity accounted investments, from the date that joint control or significant 
influence commences until the date that joint control or significant influence ceases.  When the Group’s share of 
losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investment, the carrying amount of that interest (including any 
long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent 
that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee. 

 

 When the Group transacts with an associate or joint venture of the Group, unrealised profits and losses are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in its associate or joint venture. 

 

 Dividends received are recognized when the right to receive payment is established. 
 

 Subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the separate financial statements 
 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are stated in the Company’s statement of financial 

position at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
 

 Business combinations 
Acquisitions of subsidiary corporations and businesses other than those under common control are accounted for 
using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition 
date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity 
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred. 

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are 
adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). The 
subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, or SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the 
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. 

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity are 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or 
loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date 
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such 
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of. 

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 
the SFRS(I) are acquiree’s at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that: 

 deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are 
acquiree’s and measured in accordance with SFRS(I) 1-12 Income Taxes and SFRS(I) 1-19 Employee 
Benefits respectively 

 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree’s or the 
replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based payment 
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awards transactions of the acquirer in accordance with the method in SFRS(I) 2 Share-based Payment at 
the acquisition date; and 

 assets (or disposal Groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with SFRS(I) 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard. 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or 
liabilities are acquiree’s, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. 

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete 
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject to a maximum of 
one year from acquisition date. 

Non-controlling interests in the net assets (including goodwill) of consolidated subsidiary corporations are identified 
separately from the Group’s equity. The interest of non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to 
acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition 
plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed 
to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

  

c. Common control transactions 
In 2014 and 2015, Tata Motors Limited, the ultimate holding Company had substantially completed the process of 
transferring all of its shares of some of its direct foreign subsidiary corporations to the Company.  

 In the year 2014, Tata Motors Limited transferred all of its shares in Tata Daewoo Commercial Co. Ltd, Korea 
(“TDCV”), Tata Motors (Thailand) Limited (“TMTL”) and Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Limited (“TMSA”) to the 
Company. During the 18 months period ended 30 September 2015, Tata Motors Limited transferred its shares in 
PT Tata Motors Indonesia (“PTTMI”) to the Company. The transfer of TDCV, TMTL, TMSA and PTTMI to the 
Company from Tata Motors Limited represented a combination of entities under common control. Transactions 
between entities under common control are outside the scope of FRS 103 Business Combinations (Revised) and 
accordingly, the financial statements of the Company and these subsidiary corporations had been prepared using 
the principles of merger accounting. 

 

d. Revenue recognition  
Revenue comprises the consideration earned by the Group in respect of the output of its ordinary activities. It is 
measured based on the consideration specified in the contract with the customer and excludes amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties, and net of settlement discounts, bonuses, rebates, and sales incentives. The Group 
considers its primary customers from the sale of vehicles, parts and accessories (its primary revenue-generating 
streams) are generally retailers, fleet and corporate customers, and other third-party distributors. The Group 
recognises revenue when it transfers control of a good or service to a customer, thus evidencing the satisfaction of 
the associated performance obligation under that contract.  

 

As described in Note 37, the Group operates with a single automotive reporting segment, principally generating 

revenue from the sales of vehicles, parts, and accessories. 

The sale of vehicles also can include additional services provided to the customer at the point of sale, for which the 
individual vehicle and services are accounted for as separate performance obligations, as they are considered 
separately identifiable.  The contract transaction price is allocated among the identified performance obligations 
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based on their stand-alone selling prices.  Where the stand-alone selling price is not readily available and 
observable, it is estimated using an appropriate alternative approach. 
 

Significant Revenue 
Areas 

Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, and significant payment 
terms 

Vehicles, parts, and 
accessories (and 
other goods) 

The Group recognises revenue on the sale of vehicles, parts, and accessories at the point 
of ‘wholesale’, which is determined by the underlying terms and conditions of the contract 
with the customer as to when control transfers to them. The overall principle of control 
under SFRS(I) 15 considers which party has the ability to direct the use of an asset and to 
obtain substantially all of the remaining economic benefits. 
 

Determining the transfer of control with regards to the sale of goods is driven by a 
consideration of a number of factors, including: 
- The point at which the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the customer; 
- The point at which the customer takes physical possession of the good or product; 
- The point at which the customer accepts the good or product; 
- The point at which the Group has a present right to payment for the sale of the good 

or product, and; 
- The point at which legal title to the good or product transfers to the customer. 

 

In the vast majority of cases, the sale of the relevant good is recognised at the point of 
dispatch (at release to the carrier responsible for transportation to the customer), or the 
point of delivery to the customer, which coincides with the invoicing point. In some 
instances, revenue may be recognised on a bill-and-hold basis where vehicles, for 
example, are sold to the customer but are retained in the Group’s possession at a vehicle 
holding compound on behalf of the customer ahead of being physically transferred to them 
at a future time. Such arrangements meet the criteria for bill-and-hold arrangements under 
SFRS(I) 15 to ensure that the customer has obtained the ultimate control of the product 
when revenue is recognised. The reason for the bill-and-hold is substantive (as the 
customer requests the Company to retain possession, usually due to a lack of available 
space at their own premises), the vehicles are identifiable as separately belonging to the 
customer (on the basis that each vehicle has a unique Vehicle Identification Number), the 
vehicle must be ready for physical transfer to the customer (which it is, given that it is fully 
built and safety-checked off the manufacturing line), and the Group does not have the 
ability to use the vehicle or direct it elsewhere. 
 

The Group operates with financing partners across the world who provide wholesale 
financing arrangements to the retail network for vehicle sales, which enables cash 
settlement to occur immediately (usually within 2 working days) for purchases from the 
Group. For the sale of parts and accessories, the Group typically receives payment in line 
with the invoice payment terms stipulated and agreed with its customers, which are usually 
30 days. 

Sales incentives In accordance with SFRS(I) 15, the costs associated with providing sales support and 
incentives (variable marketing expense) are considered to be variable components of 
consideration, thus reducing the amount of revenue recognised by the Group. Under 
SFRS(I) 15, the Group ensures that variable consideration is recognised to the extent of 
the amount of consideration to which it ultimately expects to be entitled.  
 

To meet this principle, the Group constrains its estimate of variable consideration to 
include amounts only to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the 
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated 
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with such variability is subsequently resolved. 
 

The Group considers that the variable consideration received for contracts with multiple 
performance obligations is allocated to all such obligations only when applicable. In the 
vast majority of instances, the Group considers that variable components of consideration 
are allocated only to the relevant and applicable performance obligations. For example, 
with the sale of a vehicle, the cost of the incentive provided is allocated entirely to the 
vehicle as its purpose is to incentivise the sale of the vehicle. 

Scheduled 
maintenance 
contracts 

Scheduled maintenance contracts sold with a vehicle provide the end customer with the 
benefit of bringing their vehicle to a dealership for the routine maintenance required to 
maintain compliance for warranty purposes. These are considered a separate 
performance obligation of the Group. 
 

The Group typically receives payment relating to the scheduled maintenance contract at 
the same time as the proceeds from the vehicle sale, at which point the amount is 
recognised as a contract liability based on the stand-alone selling price which is measured 
using a cost-plus approach. 
 

The Group recognises revenue for scheduled maintenance contracts based on the 
expected performance of the services over the period from the point of a vehicle being 
retailed to an end customer and aligning to the expected costs to fulfil those services. 

Telematics Telematics features provide a service to the customer typically aligned to the warranty 
period of the vehicle, allowing for the ability to connect the vehicle with, and interact via, an 
end customer’s mobile phone. These are considered a separate performance obligation of 
the Group. 
 

The Group typically receives payment relating to telematics features up-front at the same 
time as the proceeds from the vehicle sale, at which point the amount is recognised as a 
contract liability based on the stand-alone selling price which, for optional features, is 
measured at the applicable purchase price, and for standard-fit features, is measured 
using a cost-plus basis. 
 

The Group recognises revenue on a straight line basis over the term of the service from 
the point of the vehicle being retailed to an end customer in line with the expected costs to 
fulfil those services. 

Warranty 
considerations  as a 
service 

Vehicles and parts sold by the Group include a standard warranty to guarantee the vehicle 
complies with agreed-upon specifications for a defined period of time.  
 

Where the warranty offering to the end customer exceeds the standard market expectation 
for similar products, or is considered to provide a service to the end customer in excess of 
simply providing assurance that the agreed-upon specification is met, the Group consider 
the additional warranty to constitute a service to the end customer and therefore a 
separate performance obligation.  
 

Revenue is only recognised in the period to which the warranty service relates, up to which 
point it is recognised as a contract liability. 

Repurchase 
arrangements 

Some contracts with customers include an option or obligation for the Group to repurchase 
the product sold (including repurchasing a product originally sold as part of an amended 
product). Such instances are common in the Group’s arrangements with third party fleet 
customers or in contract manufacturing arrangements which the Group is party to, for 
example. 
 

The Group does not recognise revenue on the original sale, as in such cases, it is 
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considered to retain ultimate control of that product. The related inventory therefore 
continues to be recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position and the 
consideration received from the customer is treated as a liability. Nuances in the 
accounting treatment occur depending on whether the contractual repurchase price is less 
than, more than, or equal to the original sale price, and this ultimately results in the 
arrangement being treated as a lease or a financing arrangement.  
If considered to be a lease arrangement, where the repurchase price is lower than the 
original sale price, the difference between the proceeds received and the repurchase 
amount is recognised as income over the contractual term on a straight-line basis. 
Revenue recognised under such arrangements is outside of the scope of SFRS(I) 15, and 
instead is recognised in line with SFRS(I) 1-17 Leases. 
 

Revenue is recognised only when the relevant good or product is sold by the Group with 

no repurchase obligation or option attached. 

Returns obligations, 
refunds and similar 
obligations 

Vehicle sales do not typically include allowances for returns or refunds, although in some 
markets there is legislative requirement for Jaguar Land Rover as an automotive 
manufacturer to repurchase or re-acquire a vehicle if quality issues arise, which have been 
remedied a number of times and where the owner no longer wishes to own the vehicle as 
a result. 
 

With regards to the sale of other goods, where rights of return may be prevalent, the 
Group estimates the level of returns based on the historical data for specific products, 
adjusted as necessary to estimate returns for new products. In line with the requirements 
of SFRS(I) 15, a sale is not recognised for expected returns and instead, the Group 
recognises a refund liability and asset where required. 

Non-cash 
consideration 

In some instances, the Group engages in transactions which involve non-cash 
consideration, where a customer provides consideration in a form other than cash. This is 
most often demonstrated in marketing and sponsorship arrangements that the Group 
enters into, with an exchange of goods and/or services with its customers. 
 

Such non-cash consideration is measured at its fair value, which is determined by 
assessing the selling price value of the goods or services received as consideration. If this 
cannot be reasonably estimated, then the Group measures such consideration indirectly 
with reference to the stand-alone selling price of the goods or services promised to the 
customer. 

 
e. Cost recognition  

Costs and expenses are recognised when incurred and are classified according to their nature. 
 

Expenditures are capitalised, where appropriate, in accordance with the policy for internally generated intangible 
assets and represent employee costs, stores and other manufacturing supplies, and other expenses incurred for 
product development undertaken by the Group. 
 

Material and other cost of sales as reported in the profit or loss is presented net of the impact of realised foreign 
exchange relating to derivatives hedging cost exposures. 
 

f. Provisions  
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that 
can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation. Provisions are held for product warranty, legal and product liabilities, residual risks, restructuring and 
environmental risks as detailed in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Supplier reimbursements are recognised as separate assets within ‘Other financial assets’. See note 6. 
 

g.        Foreign currency transactions and translation 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of 
changes in equity of the Company are presented in Pound Sterling (GBP or £), which is the functional currency of 
the Company and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of transaction. Foreign 
currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are re-measured into the functional currency at the exchange 
rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss as foreign exchange gain/loss.  
For the purpose of consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations are translated to 
Pound Sterling at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and the income and expenses at 
the average rate of exchange for the respective months. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of currency 
translation reserve. 
 

h. Income taxes  
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes. Income tax expense is recognised in the consolidated 
Statement of profit or loss, except when related to items that are recognised outside of profit or loss (whether in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity), or where related to the initial accounting for a business 
combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business 
combination.  
 

Current income taxes are determined based on respective taxable income of each taxable entity and tax rules 
applicable for respective tax jurisdictions. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between 
the carrying values of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and unutilised business loss and 
depreciation carry-forwards and tax credits. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed separately for 
each taxable entity and for each taxable jurisdiction. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax 
losses, depreciation carry forwards and unused tax credits could be utilised. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, and on the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 

                     i. Inventories  
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of raw materials, components and 
consumables are ascertained on a first-in-first-out basis. Cost, including fixed and variable production overheads, 
are allocated to work-in-progress and finished goods determined on a full absorption cost basis. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated cost of completion and selling 
expenses.  

Inventories include vehicles sold subject to repurchase arrangements. These vehicles are carried at cost to the 
Group and are amortised in changes in inventories of finished goods to their residual values (i.e. estimated second 
hand sale value) over the term of the arrangement.  
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                    j. Property, plant and equipment  
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost of acquisition or construction less accumulated depreciation less 
accumulated impairment, if any.  
 

Freehold land is measured at cost and is not depreciated.  

Cost includes purchase price, non-recoverable taxes and duties, labor cost and direct overheads for self-
constructed assets and other direct costs incurred up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use.  

Interest cost incurred for constructed assets is capitalised up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use, 
based on borrowings incurred specifically for financing the asset or the weighted average rate of all other 
borrowings, if no specific borrowings have been incurred for the asset.   

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives of 
the assets are as follows:  

Particulars Estimated useful life 

Buildings 20 to 40 years 

Plant and equipment 3 to 30 years 

Vehicles 3 to 10 years 

Computers 3 to 6 years 

Furniture and fixtures 3 to 20 years 

The depreciation for property, plant and equipment with finite useful lives is reviewed at least each year end. 
Changes in expected useful lives are treated as change in accounting estimates.    
 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 
assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. Freehold land is measured at cost and is not depreciated. 
Residual values are reassessed on an annual basis. 
 

Depreciation is not recorded on assets under construction until construction and installation are complete and the 
asset is ready for its intended use. Assets under construction includes capital advances Depreciation is not 
recorded on heritage assets as the Group considers their residual value to approximate their cost. 
 

k. Intangible assets  
 

 Acquired intangible assets 
Intangible assets purchased including acquired in business combination, are measured at cost or fair value as of 
the date of acquisition where applicable less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment, if any.  

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite-life assessment 
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful-life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a 
prospective basis.   
 

For intangible assets with finite lives, amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of the acquired intangible assets as per the estimated amortisation periods below: 
 

Particulars Estimated amortisation period 

Patents and technological know-how 2 to 12 years 

Customer related - Dealer network 20 years 

Software 2 to 8 years 

Intellectual property rights and other intangible 3 years to indefinite 
 

The amortisation period for intangible assets with finite useful lives is reviewed at least at each reporting period. 
Changes in expected useful lives are treated as changes in accounting estimates.  
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Capital work-in-progress includes capital advances. Customer related intangible acquired in a business combination 
consists of dealer network. Intellectual property rights and other intangibles mainly consist of brand names, which 
are considered to have indefinite lives due to the longevity of the brands. 
 

Internally generated intangible assets  
Research costs are charged to the profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.  
 

Product engineering costs incurred on new vehicle platform, engines, transmission and new products are 
recognised as intangible assets, when feasibility has been established, the Group has committed technical, 
financial and other resources to complete the development and it is probable that asset will generate probable 
future economic benefits.  
 

The costs capitalised include the cost of materials, direct labor and directly attributable overhead expenditure 
incurred up to the date the asset is available for use. 
 

Interest cost incurred is capitalised up to the date the asset is ready for its intended use, based on borrowings 
incurred specifically for financing the asset or the weighted average rate of all other borrowings if no specific 
borrowings have been incurred for the asset.  
 

Product engineering cost is amortised over the life of the related product being a period between 2 and 10 years.  
 

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment, if any. Amortisation is not recorded on product engineering in progress until development is complete.  
 

                      l. Leases  
At the inception of a lease, the lease arrangement is classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease, 
based on the substance of the lease arrangement.  
 

Assets taken on finance lease  
A finance lease is recognised as an asset and a liability at the commencement of the lease, at the lower of the fair 
value of the asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Initial direct costs, if any, are also 
capitalised and, subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting 
policy applicable to that asset. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the 
finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period 
during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  
 

           Assets taken on operating lease 
Leases other than finance leases are operating leases, and the leased assets are not recognised on the statement 
of financial position. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease in ‘other expenses’. 
 
The impact on the Group’s accounting policies for leases under SFRS(I) 16 for the year ended 31 march 2020 is 
given on page 28.  
 

m. Impairment of property plant and equipment and intangible assets 
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that any property plant and 
equipment and intangible assets with finite lives may be impaired. If any such impairment exists the recoverable 
amount of an asset is estimated to determine the extent of impairment, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.  

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use, are tested for 
impairment annually at the end of the reporting period, or earlier, if there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired.  
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The estimated recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the cash generating unit for 
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  
 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in the profit or loss.  
 

An annual review of the carrying value for heritage assets is performed as the assets are held at cost and not 
depreciated and any write-down in the carrying value is recognised immediately in the profit or loss. 
 

n.        Impairment of equity accounted investments: joint ventures and associates 
The requirements of SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets are applied to determine whether it is necessary to 
recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in a joint venture or an associate. When 
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance 
with SFRS(I) 1-36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (the higher of value 
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of 
the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with 
SFRS(I) 1-36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 
 

o.        Government grants and incentives 
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the relevant 
conditions and the grant will be received. Government grants are recognised as income either on a systematic 
basis when the Group recognises, as expenses, the related costs that the grants are intended to compensate or, 
immediately, if the costs have already been incurred. 
 

Government grants related to assets are deducted from the cost of the asset and amortised over the useful life of 
the asset. Government grants related to income are presented as an offset against the related expenditure and 
Government grants that are awarded as incentives with no ongoing performance obligations to the Group are 
recognised as other income in the period the grant is received.  
 

Sales tax incentives received from Governments are recognised in the profit or loss at the reduced tax rate and 
revenue is reported net of these sales tax incentives. 
 

p. Employee benefits  
 

i) Pension schemes  
One of the subsidiary Jaguar Land Rover operate several defined benefit pension schemes, the UK defined benefit 
schemes were previously contracted out of the second state pension scheme until 5 April 2016. The assets of the 
plan are generally held in separate trustee administered funds. The plans provide for monthly pension after 
retirement based on salary and service as set out in rules of each scheme.  
 

Contributions to the plans by the subsidiary corporations take into consideration the results of actuarial valuations. 
The plans with a surplus position at the balance sheet date have been limited to the maximum economic benefit 
available from unconditional rights to refund from the scheme or reduction in future contributions. Where the 
subsidiary corporation is considered to have a contractual obligation to fund the pension plan above the accounting 
value of the liabilities, an onerous obligation is recognised. The UK defined benefit scheme were closed to the new 
joiners in April 2010.  
 

For defined benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit method, 
with actual revaluations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. 
 

Defined benefit costs are split into three categories: 
• Current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on curtailments and settlements; 
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• Net interest cost; and 
• Remeasurement. 
 

Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling and the return on scheme 
assets (excluding interest) is recognised immediately in the consolidated balance sheet with a charge or credit to 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recorded 
in the statement of comprehensive income is not recycled. 
 

Past service cost, including curtailment gains and losses, is generally recognised in profit or loss in the period of 
scheme amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period to the net 
defined benefit liability. 
 

The Group presents these defined benefit costs within ‘employee cost’ in the statement of profit or loss.  
 

Separate defined contribution scheme are available to employees of Jaguar Land Rover. Costs in respect of those 
schemes are charged to the profit or loss as incurred.  

 

ii) Severance indemnity  
Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Company Limited (“TDCV”), a subsidiary corporation incorporated in Korea has 
an obligation towards severance indemnity, a defined benefit retirement plan, covering eligible employees. The plan 
provides for a lump sum payment to all employees with more than one year of employment equivalent to 30 days’ 
salary payable for each completed year of service. Liability for severance indemnity is accounted based on an 
annual actuarial valuation.  
 

iii) Post-retirement Medicare scheme  
Under this unfunded scheme, employees of some of its subsidiary corporations receive medical benefits subject to 
certain limits of amount, periods after retirement and types of benefits, depending on their grade and location at the 
time of retirement. Employees separated from these subsidiary corporations as part of an Early Separation 
Scheme, on medical grounds or due to permanent disablement are also covered under the scheme. The applicable 
subsidiary corporations account for the liability for post-retirement medical scheme based on an annual actuarial 
valuation.  
 

Actuarial gains and losses 
Actuarial gains and losses relating to retirement benefit plans are recognised in other comprehensive income in the 
year in which they arise. Actuarial gains and losses relating to long-term employee benefits are recognised in the 
consolidated profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

 

Measurement date  
           The measurement date of retirement plans is 31 March.  
  

q.         Financial instruments 
 

i) Recognition and derecognition 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expires 
or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. When a financial 
instrument is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity (if any) is transferred to the consolidated income 
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statement unless it was an equity instrument electively held at fair value through other comprehensive income. In 
this case, any cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to retained earnings. 
 

Financial assets are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group reviews the facts 
and circumstances around each asset before making a determination. Financial assets that are written-off could still 
be subject to enforcement activities. 
 

Financial assets are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group reviews the facts 
and circumstances around each asset before making a determination. Financial assets that are written-off could still 
be subject to enforcement activities. 
 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is when the obligation is discharged, 
cancelled or has expired. 
 

ii) Initial measurement 
Initially, a financial instrument is recognised at its fair value. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of financial instruments are recognised in determining the carrying amount, if it is not classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs of financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
expensed in profit or loss. 
 

Subsequently, financial instruments are measured according to the category in which they are classified. 
 

iii) Classification & measurement – financial assets 
Classification of financial assets is based on the business model in which the instruments are held as well as the 
characteristics of their contractual cash flows. The business model is based on management’s intentions and past 
pattern of transactions. Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. The Group reclassifies financial 
assets when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 
 

Financial assets are classified into three categories: 
 

Financial assets at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets with contractual cash flows that consist 
solely of payments of principal and interest and which are held with the intention of collecting those contractual cash 
flows. Subsequently, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment 
losses, if any. These include cash and cash equivalents, contract assets, finance receivables and other financial 
assets. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are non-derivative financial assets with 
contractual cash flows that consist solely of payments of principal and interest and which are held with the intention 
of collecting those contractual cash flows as well as to sell the financial asset. Subsequently, these are measured at 
fair value, with unrealised gains or losses being recognised in other comprehensive income apart from any 
expected credit losses or foreign exchange gains or losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. This category can 
also include financial assets that are equity instruments which have been irrevocably designated at initial 
recognition as fair value through other comprehensive income. For these assets, there is no expected credit loss 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets with contractual cash flows that do not 
consist solely of payments of principal and interest. This category includes derivatives, embedded derivatives 
separated from the host contract, or investments in certain convertible loan notes. Subsequently, these are 
measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses being recognised in profit or loss, with the exception of 
derivative instruments designated in a hedging relationship, for which hedge accounting is applied 
 

iv) Classification & measurement – financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost unless they meet the specific criteria 
to be recognised at fair value through profit or loss. 
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Other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes derivatives, embedded derivatives separated 
from the host contract as well as financial liabilities held for trading. Subsequent to initial recognition, these are 
measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised in profit or loss. 
 

Embedded derivatives relating to prepayment options on senior notes are not considered as closely related and are 
separately accounted unless the exercise price of these options is approximately equal on each exercise date to 
either the amortised cost of the senior notes or the present value of the lost interest for the remaining term of the 
senior notes. 
 

 
 
Impairment 
The Group recognises a loss allowance in profit or loss for expected credit losses on financial assets held at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. Expected credit losses are forward looking and 
are measured in a way that is unbiased and represents a probability weighted amount, takes into account the time 
value of money (values are discounted back using the applicable effective interest rate) and uses reasonable and 
supportable information. 
 

Lifetime expected credit losses are calculated for assets that were deemed credit impaired at initial recognition or 
have subsequently become credit impaired as well as those where credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition. 
 

The Group adopts the simplified approach permitted in SFRS(I) 9 to apply lifetime expected credit losses to trade 
receivables and contract assets, thereby eliminating the need to assess changes in credit risk for those assets. 
Where credit risk is deemed low at the reporting date or to have not increased significantly, credit losses for the 
next 12 months are calculated. 
 

Objective evidence for a significant increase in credit risk may include where payment is overdue by 90 or more 
days as well as other information about significant financial difficulties of the borrower. 
 

Credit risk has increased significantly when the probability of default has increased significantly. Such increases are 
relative and assessment may include external ratings (where available) or other information such as past due 
payments. Historic data and forward looking information are both considered. 
 

Equity instruments 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences residual interests in the assets of the Group after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs. 
 

Investments in equity instruments are measured at fair value; however, where a quoted market price in an active 
market is not available, equity instruments are measured at cost (investments in equity instruments that are not held 
for trading), The Group has not elected to account for these investment at fair value through other comprehensive 
income. 
 

Determination of fair value 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group takes into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group 
determines the fair value of financial instruments that are quoted in active markets using the quoted bid prices 
(financial assets held) or quoted ask prices (financial liabilities held) and using valuation techniques for other 
instruments. Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow method and other valuation models. 
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Hedge accounting 
The Group uses foreign currency forward contracts, foreign currency options and borrowings denominated in 
foreign currency to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations relating to highly probable forecast 
transactions. The Group designates these foreign currency forward contracts, foreign currency options and 
borrowing denominated in foreign currency in a cash flow hedging relationship by applying hedge accounting 
principles under SFRS(I) 9. 
 

The Group uses cross-currency interest rate swaps to convert some of its issued debt from foreign denominated 
fixed rate debt to GBP floating rate debt. Hedge accounting is applied using both fair value and cash flow hedging 
relationships. The designated risks are foreign currency and interest rate risks. 
 

Derivative contracts are stated at fair value on the statement of financial position at each reporting date. 
 

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the economic relationship between the hedging 
instrument and the hedged item including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging instrument are 
expected to offset changes in the cash flows of hedged item. The Group documents its risk management objective 
and strategy for undertaking its hedging transactions. 
 

The Group designates only the intrinsic value of foreign exchange options in the hedging relationship. The Group 
designates amounts excluding foreign currency basis spread in the hedging relationship for both foreign exchange 
forward contracts and cross-currency interest rate swaps. 
 

Changes in the fair value of the derivative contracts that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash 
flows are recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve within other comprehensive income (net of tax), and any 
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement. 
 

Changes in both the time value of foreign exchange options and foreign currency basis spread of foreign exchange 
forwards and cross-currency interest rate swaps are recognised in other comprehensive income (net of tax) in the 
cost of hedging reserve to the extent that they relate to the hedged item (the ‘aligned’ value). 
 

Changes in the fair value of contracts that are designated in a fair value hedge are taken to the consolidated 
income statement. They offset the change in fair value, attributable to the hedged risks, of the borrowings 
designated as the hedged item. 
 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, exercised or no 
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to the consolidated income 
statement in the periods in which the forecast transactions affect profit or loss or as an adjustment to a non-financial 
item (e.g. inventory) when that item is recognised on the balance sheet. These deferred amounts are ultimately 
recognised in profit or loss as the hedged item affects profit or loss (for example through cost of goods sold). 
 

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss in equity, including 
deferred costs of hedging, is immediately transferred and recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

 

r.        Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and highly liquid investments with an original 
maturity of up to three months that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

s.        Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) 
The Group operates a share based payment LTIP arrangement for certain employees. The scheme provides a cash 
payment to the employee based on a specific number of phantom shares at grant date and the share price of Tata 
Motors Limited at the vesting date, subject to profitability and employment conditions. These are accounted for as 
cash settled arrangements, whereby a liability is recognised at fair value at the date of grant, using a Black Scholes 
model. At each balance sheet date until the liability is settled, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any 
corresponding changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
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3 Holding company and related party transactions

(£ millions)

Significant transactions and balances with related parties during the year :

 With  joint 

ventures of 

the Group 

 With fellow 

subsidiaries 

and 

associates 

 With ultimate 

parent 

company 

 With  joint 

ventures of 

the Group 

 With fellow 

subsidiaries 

and 

associates 

 With ultimate 

parent 

company 

Sale of products (321)           (3)                   (79)                    (703)             -               (77)                    

Purchase of products -             -                 234                   -               -               180                   

Services received -             173                 98                     64                -               100                   

Services rendered (87)             -                 (3)                      (142)             (1)                 (3)                      

Trade and other receivables 15               1                     16                     112              -               49                     

Accounts payable -             (35)                 (62)                    -               -               (80)                    

Dividends (received)/paid (22)             -                 148                   (206)             -               94                     

Compensation of key management personnel

2019 2018

Short-term benefits                  10                       12 

Post-employment benefits                    1                         1 

Compensation for loss of office                   -                           1 
Total compensation of key management personnel 11                14                     

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tata Motors Limited, incorporated in India, which is also the Company’s ultimate holding

company. Related parties in these financial statements refer to members of the holding company’s Group of companies.

Some of the Company’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these on the basis determined

between the parties is reflected in the financial statements. The intercompany balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand, unless stated otherwise.

2019 2018
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(£ millions)

4 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17 31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Cash and cash equivalents 2,975            2,859            3,065            158               145               98                 

All cash held by the Group can be utilised across the Group’s manufacturing and sales operations.

5 Allowance for trade and other receivables

31-March-19 31-March-18

Changes in allowances for trade and other receivables as follows:

At beginning of the year 68                 74                 

Provision made during the year 4                   6                   

Unused amount reversed 2                   (1)                  

Written off during the year (41)                (2)                  

Foreign exchange translation differences (4)                  (9)                  

At end of ther year 29                 68                 

6 Other financial assets 

Other financial assets consist of the following :

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17 31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Derivative financial instruments 133               264               174               -                -                5                   

Warranty reimbursement and other receivables 96                 105               12                 -                -                -                

Restricted bank deposits 21                 22                 18                 11                 9                   15                 

Accrued income 44                 35                 19                 -                -                -                

Others 39                 85                 23                 -                -                1                   

Total other current financial assets 333               511               246               11                 9                   21                 

Restricted cash held as security 8                   8                   6                   -                -                -                

Derivative financial instruments 61                 287               319               7                   1                   64                 

Warranty reimbursement and other receivables 104               116               -                -                -                -                

Others 8                   8                   12                 -                * -                * -                *

Total other non-current financial assets 181               419               337               7                   1                   64                 

* Amount is less than £1 million.

As of 31 March 2019, £5 million (2018: £5 million, 2017: £4 million) of the non-current restricted cash is held as a financial deposit in relation to

ongoing legal cases.

Group Company

CompanyGroup

There were no material changes to the value of expected credit losses on adoption of SFRS(I) 9

Group

Trade receivables with a contractual amount of £38 million (2018: £nil) that were written-off during the year are still subject to enforcement activity.
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7 Inventories

Inventories consist of the following : (£ millions)

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Raw materials and consumables 196               178               201               

Work-in-progress 384               351               345               

Finished goods 3,192            3,424            3,093            

Total 3,772            3,953            3,639            

8 Other assets 

Other assets consist of the following :

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17 31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Recoverable VAT, deposits 311               340               249               -                * -                * -                *

Prepaid expenses 156               179               168               -                * -                * -                *

Research and development credit 113               114               97                 -                -                -                

Others -                10                 14                 -                * -                * -                *

Total other current assets 580               643               528               -                * -                * -                *

Prepaid expenses 83                 81                 77                 -                -                -                

Others 1                   -                4                   -                -                -                

Total other non-current assets 84                 81                 81                 -                -                -                

* Amount is less than £1 million.

Group

Group Company

Inventories of finished goods include £484 million (2018: £436 million, 2017: £356 million), relating to vehicles sold to rental car companies,

fleet customers and others with guaranteed repurchase arrangements.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded an inventory write-down expense of £62 million (2018: £51 million), excluding a

reversal of a write-down recorded in a previous period in relation to the Tianjin incident of £nil million (2018:£1 million). The write-down

excluding the reversals is included in ‘Raw materials, components and consumables’ in "Material and other cost of sales"

Cost of inventories (including cost of purchased products) recognised as an expense during the year amounted to £18,086 million (2018: 

£19,152 million).
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9 Property, Plant and equipment 

(£ millions)

Group

Land and 

buildings

Plant and 

equipment

Vehicles Computers Furniture 

and 

fixtures

Heritage 

assets

Total

Cost as at 1 April 2018 1,663       7,972         11          133             117          51                 9,947             

Additions 9              13              1            48               21            3                   95                  

Transfers from AUC 723          1,545         -         -              -           -                2,268             

Disposal (3)             (548)           (1)           (10)              (4)             -                (566)               

Currency translation differences (17)           (13)             -         -              -           -                (30)                 

Cost as at 31 March 2019 2,375       8,969         11          171             134          54                 11,714           

Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at 

1 April 2018 232          3,630         6            52               54            13                 3,987             

Depreciation charge for the year 85            977            2            18               11            -                1,093             

Currency translation differences -           (1)               -         -              -           -                (1)                   

Impairment -           1,168         1            26               16            -                1,211             

Assets write-down -           -             -         -              -           18                 18                  

Disposal (2)             (489)           (1)           (8)                (3)             -                (503)               

Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at 

31 March 2019 315          5,285         8            88               78            31                 5,805             
Net carrying amount as at 31 March 2019 2,060       3,684         3            83               56            23                 5,909             

Cost as at 1 April 2017 1,283       6,727         11          113             103          52                 8,289             

Additions 24            22              1            24               19            -                90                  

Transfer from AUC 364          1,558         -         -              -           -                1,922             

Disposal (1)             (325)           (1)           (3)                (4)             (1)                  (335)               

Currency translation differences (7)             (10)             -         (1)                (1)             -                (19)                 

Cost as at 31 March 2018 1,663       7,972         11          133             117          51                 9,947             

Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at 

1 April 2017 172          3,008         5            40               45            -                3,270             

Depreciation charge for the year 62            933            2            15               13            -                1,025             

Currency translation differences (1)             (8)               -         -              -           -                (9)                   

Assets write-down -           -             -         -              -           13                 13                  

Disposal (1)             (303)           (1)           (3)                (4)             -                (312)               

Accumulated depreciation and impairment as at 

31 March 2018

232          3,630         6            52               54            13                 3,987             

Net carrying amount as at 31 March 2018 1,431       4,342         5            81               63            38                 5,960             

Asset under Construction (AUC)

31-March-19 31-March-18

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,599            1,022             

Additions 1,550            2,502             

Transfer (2,268)           (1,922)            

Impairment (185)              -                 

Write down -                (5)                   

Disposal 13                 -                 

Currency translation differences (1)                  2                    

Balance at the year end 708               1,599             

Total Property, plant and equipment 6,617            7,559             

As part of the Group’s review of the carrying value of property, plant and equipment, £18 million (2018: £18 million), heritage vehicles and asset

under construction have been written-down and this has been recognised as an expense within ‘Other expenses’. Further information about the

impairment is included in note 10.
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10 Intangible assets

Group

Software Patents 

and 

technolog

ical know 

how

Customer 

related - 

dealer 

network

Intellectual 

property rights 

and other 

intangibles

Capitalised 

product 

development

Total

Cost as at 1 April 2018 626          147          61             669                   6,736              8,239            

Other additions 87            -           -            5                       1,084              1,176            

Currency translation differences (1)             -           -            -                   -                 (1)                  

Disposal/write-off (44)           -           -            -                   (844)               (888)              

Cost as at 31 March 2019 668          147          61             674                   6,976              8,526            

Accumulated amortisation as at 1 April  2018 293          141          36             22                     3,080              3,572            

Amortisation charge for the year 105          6              3               7                       967                 1,088            

Disposal (37)           -           -            -                   (843)               (880)              

Impairment 75            -           7               152                   903                 1,137            

Accumulated amortisation as at 31 March 2019 436          147          46             181                   4,107              4,917            

Net carrying amount at 31 March 2019 232          -           15             493                   2,869              3,609            

Cost as at 1 April 2017 570          147          61             659                   5,200              6,637            

Other additions 80            -           -            12                     1,668              1,760            

Currency translation differences 1              -           -            (2)                      -                 (1)                  

Disposal/write-off (25)           -           -            -                   (132)               (157)              

Cost as at 31 March 2018 626          147          61             669                   6,736              8,239            

Accumulated amortisation as at 1 April  2017 205          127          27             19                     2,269              2,647            

Amortisation charge for the year 100          14            9               3                       943                 1,069            

Disposal/write-off (12)           -           -            -                   (132)               (144)              

Accumulated amortisation as at 31 March 2018 293          141          36             22                     3,080              3,572            

Net carrying amount at 31 March 2018 333          6              25             647                   3,656              4,667            

Product development in Progress (PDIP)

31-March-19 31-March-18

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,103              2,188            

Additions 1,579              1,607            

Transfer to Capitalised PDIP (1,084)            (1,668)           

Impairment (572)               -                

Write down -                 (24)                

Currency translation differences (3)                   -                

Balance at the year end 2,023              2,103            

Total intangible assets 5,632              6,770            

* During the year ended 31 March 2018, £46 million of costs were identified as being written-down and recognised as an expense within

‘Other expenses’.
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10 Intangible assets (continued)

Impairment Testing

The directors are of the view that the operations of a subsidiary Jaguar Land Rover represent a single cash-generating unit ("CGU"). 

 (£ millions)

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Growth rate applied beyond approved forecast period 1.90% 2.0% 1.90%

Pre-tax discount rate 11.8% 8.70% 10.90%

Sensitivity to Key and other assumptions

 (£ millions)

                1,114 

                   483 

                4,297 

                2,088 

Decrease in projected volume by 5%

Decrease in projected gross margin by 1%

The cash flows for the year 2023/24 are extrapolated into perpetuity assuming a growth rate as stated above which is set with reference to 

weighted-average GDP growth of the countries in which the Group operates.

Management performed an impairment assessment as at 31 March 2019. The recoverable value was determined based on Value in Use

(‘VIU’), which was marginally higher than the Fair Value less Cost of Disposal (‘FVLCD’) of the relevant assets of the CGU. The recoverable

amount was lower than the carrying value of the CGU and this resulted in an impairment charge of £3,105 million being recognised within

"Provision for impairment in Jaguar Land Rover" as at 31 March 2019.

The Group has considered it appropriate to undertake the impairment assessment with reference to the latest business plan which includes

a 5 year cash flow forecast as approved by the JLR plc Board. The growth rates used in the value in use calculation reflect those inherent

within the Group’s business plan as approved by the JLR plc Board, which is primarily a function of the Group’s cycle plan assumptions,

past performance and management’s expectation of future market developments through to 2023/24. The future cash flows consider

potential risks given the current economic environment and key assumptions such as sales volume forecasts and margins. The Group has

assessed the potential impacts of changes, if any, in tax and treaty arrangements globally, including Brexit and the US Tariffs. The potential

impact of reasonably possible outcomes of these events has been included in the VIU calculations.

The directors’ approach and key (unobservable) assumptions used to determine the Group’s CGU VIU were as follows:

As at

The impairment loss of £3,105 million has been allocated initially against goodwill of £1 million and the relevant assets and there after the

residual amount has been allocated on a pro-rated basis. This has resulted in £1,396million allocated against tangible assets and £1,709

million allocated against intangible assets.

The changes in the following table to assumptions used in the impairment review would, in isolation, lead to an increase to the aggregate

impairment loss recognised as at 31 March 2019: (although it should be noted that these sensitivities do not take account of potential

mitigating actions).

Increase in discount rate by 1%

Decrease in long-term growth rate applied beyond approved forecast period by 0.5%
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11 Investment in equity accounted investees

31-Mar-19

Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company 

Limited 50.0%

Jaguar Cars Finance Limited 49.9%

Synaptiv Limited 33.3%

CloudCar Inc 33.3%

Driveclubservice Pte Ltd 25.1%

Driveclub Limited 25.8%

ARC Vehicle Limited

29.2%

Individually material joint ventures

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Current assets                   748                       892 940                    

Current liabilities               (1,103)                   (1,076) (934)                  

Non-current assets                1,439                    1,324 1,094                 

Non-current liabilities                  (122)                      (154) (176)                  

Equity attributable to shareholders                   962                       986                     924 

2019 2018 2017

Revenue                1,697                    2,773 2,163                 

Profit for the year                     13                       504 312                    

Total comprehensive income 13                    504                      312                    

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Cash and cash equivalents 316                  439                      621                    

Other current assets 432                  453                      320                    

Financial liabilities - current (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) (279)                (42)                       -                     

Financial liabilities - non-current (excluding trade and other payables and provisions) (122)                (152)                     (175)                  

Depreciation and amortisation (206)                (139)                     (105)                  

Interest income 12                    27                        11                      

Interest expense (14)                  (7)                         (8)                       

Income tax expense (6)                    (136)                     (103)                  

Included within the summarised financial information above are the following amounts:

The following table sets out the summarised financial information of the Group’s individually material equity accounted investees, Chery

Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Co. Limited after adjusting for material differences in accounting policies:

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a dividend of £22 million was received from Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Ltd.

(2018 : £206 million).

Singapore

England and Wales

As at

Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Ltd. is a limited liability company, whose legal form confirms separation between the

parties to the joint arrangement. There is no contractual arrangement or any other facts or circumstances that indicate that the parties to

the joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets or obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. Accordingly, Chery

Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Ltd. is classified as a joint venture. Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Ltd is not

publicly listed.

Except for CloudCar Inc.and Driveclub Limited, the proportion of voting rights disclosed in the table above is the same as the Group’s

interest in the ordinary share capital of each undertaking.

Hong Kong Vehicle leasing

As at

Proportion 

of voting 

The Group has the following investments in equity accounted investees as at March 31, 2019:

Name of investment

Manufacture and development of

electrified vehicle

Principal activity

Holding company and mobility 

application owner / licencor

Manufacture and assembly of 

vehicles

Non-trading

Business and domestic software 

development
Automotive software development

Principal place of business 

and country of 

incorporation

People's Republic of China

England and Wales

England and Wales

United States of America
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11 Investment in equity accounted investees (cont'd)

Individually immaterial joint ventures

 (£ millions)

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Group's share of profit for the year -                 2                        3                        

Group's share of other comprehensive income -                 - -

Group's share of total comprehensive income -                 2                        3                        

Disposal as part of step acquisition -                 (10)                     -                     

Carrying amount of the Group's interest - - 8

Associates

Spark 44 (JV) Limited has been consolidated as a subsidiary from 31 August 2017.

No dividend was received in the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 from any of the individually immaterial equity accounted investments.

On 31 August 2017, one of the subsidiary, Jaguar Land Rover Limited acquired a further 10,000 ‘B’ shares in Spark44 (JV) Limited,

increasing its share of the voting rights of Spark44 (JV) Limited from 50% to 50.5%. In addition, Spark44 (JV) Limited’s Articles of Association

together with the Shareholder Agreement were amended to give Jaguar Land Rover Limited control of Spark44 (JV) Limited as the majority

shareholder. Spark44 (JV) Limited is not publicly listed.

The following table sets out the Group’s share of profit and other comprehensive income and the carrying amount of the Group’s equity

accounted investment in Spark44 (JV) Limited. The information for 2018 presented in this table includes the results of Spark44 (JV) Limited

for the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 August 2017 prior to acquisition as a subsidiary.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group purchased 25.08 per cent of the share capital of Driveclubservice Pte. Ltd. for £0.2 million.

In addition, the Group also purchased 1 per cent of the share capital of Driveclub Limited, the wholly owned subsidiary of Driveclubservice

Pte. Ltd. However, the Group has 25.83 per cent of the voting rights, being the 1 per cent of share capital held and the indirect shareholding

held through Driveclubservice Pte. Ltd. Both Driveclubservice Pte. Ltd. and Driveclub Limited are therefore accounted for as equity accounted

investments as the Group has significant influence over the companies.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s proportion of the ordinary share capital in Cloudcar Inc. was diluted to 26 per cent of the

ordinary share capital. However, the Group has 33 per cent of the voting rights since a number of ordinary shares are in the form of options

either available for issue or assigned to the employees of CloudCar Inc.

As at

The Group has no additional rights or influence over Jaguar Cars Finance Limited other than the voting rights attached to the ordinary share

capital.
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11 Investment in equity accounted investees (cont'd)

 (£ millions)

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Net assets of material joint venture 962                 986                    924                 

Share of net assets of:

Material joint venture                  481                      493                  462 

Individually immaterial equity accounted investments                      2                          6                    20 

Other (1)                     (6)                      (11)                     (8)

                 477                      488                  474 

(1)   

2019 2018 2017

Total profit of material joint venture 13                   504                    312                 

Share of profit of:

Material joint venture 7                     252                    156                 

Individually immaterial joint ventures (4)                   -                     3                     

Share of profit from equity accounted investees 3                     252                    159                 

Currency translation differences (3)                   14                      33                   

-                 266                    192                 

Other Investments

2019 2018 2017

Investment in Lyft Inc 46                   22                      -                  

Other immaterial investments 23                   7                        -                  

69                   29                      -                  

Disclosure of the valuation techniques applied in calculating the fair value of these other non-equity accounted investments is included 

in note 2.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the equity accounted investments adjusted for

differences in accounting policies between the Group and its equity accounted investments. All joint ventures are accounted for using

the equity method and are private companies and there are no quoted market prices available for their shares.

The following reconciles the carrying amount of the Group's interests in equity accounted investees:

The following reconciles the Group's share of total comprehensive income from equity accounted investees:

The Group’s share of capital commitments of its joint ventures at 31 March 2019 is £151 million (2018: £159 million), and commitments

relating to the Group’s interests in its joint ventures are disclosed in note 33. The contingent liabilities of its joint ventures as at 31

March 2019 is £nil (2018: £1 million).

As at 31 March 2019, an adjustment of £6 million (2018: £11 million) has been made to derecognise profit that has not yet been

realised on goods sold by the Group to Chery Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Company Ltd.

Carrying amount of the Group's interests in equity accounted investees

Share of total comprehensive income from equity accounted investees

The Group’s other investments comprise equity investments of 10 per cent or less of the ordinary share capital of the investee

companies and are designated as fair value through profit and loss financial instruments.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group purchased 0.3 per cent of the ordinary share capital of Lyft Inc for £20 million. 

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group invested £14 million (2018: £5 million) in other investments. 

The Group has no additional rights or influence over any of its other equity investments other than the voting rights attached to the

ordinary share capital. No dividend was received during the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 from Jaguar Land Rover Schweiz

AG

As at
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TML HOLDINGS PTE. LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY CORPORATIONS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

12 Investment in subsidiary corporations  (£ millions)

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Unquoted equity shares at cost (net of impairment) # 1,916                 1,916               1,916              

1,916                 1,916               1,916              

The following details the subsidiary corporations held by the Company:

31-March-19 31-March-18 31-March-17

Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Plc 100 100 100

Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co. Ltd 100 100 100

Tata Motors (Thailand)  Ltd 95.87 95.49 95.49

Tata Motors (SA) (Proprietary) Ltd 60 60 60

PT Tata Motors Indonesia 100 100 100

TMNL Motors Services Nigeria Ltd 99 99 99

# During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company made capital infusion of £40 million (2018: £13 million, 2017: £7 million) in its subsidiary and

has also impaired it. The capital infusion of £40 million is made towards the cost of closure of one of its subsidiary company.

Manufacturing & assembling of commercial 

vehicle / Indonesia

Importing, assembling and distribution of 

vehicles / Nigeria

Proportion of ownership

and voting power held (%)

Company

Manufacturing & assembling of commercial 

vehicle / South Africa

Name of the Company Principal activities / Principal place of 

business and country of incorporation

Design, development, manufacture and

marketing of high-performance luxury

saloons, specialist sports cars and four-

wheel-drive off-road vehicles. / United

Kingdom

Manufacturing & selling of commercial

vehicle / Republic of Korea

Manufacturing & assembling  of vehicle / 

Thailand
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12 Investment in subsidiary corporations

 31-March-19  31-March-18 

Subsidiaries of Jaguar Land Rover Ltd:

Jaguar Land Rover Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover North America, LLC. USA 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Deutschland GmbH Germany 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Belux N.V. Belgium 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Austria GmbH Austria 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Italia SpA Italy 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Australia (Pty) Limited Australia 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Espana SL Spain 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Nederland B.V. Holland 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Portugal Veiculos e Pecas, Lda Portugal 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (formerly Jaguar Land

Rover Automotive Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.)

China 100% 100%

Shanghai Jaguar Land Rover Automotive Service Co. Ltd China 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Japan Ltd Japan 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Korea Co. Limited Korea 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Canada ULC Canada 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover France SAS France 100% 100%

Jaguar e Land Rover Brasil Indústria e Comércio de Veículos Ltda. Brazil 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Limited Liability Company Russia 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) Holdings Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover India Limited India 100% 100%

Daimler Transport Vehicles Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

S.S. Cars Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

The Lanchester Motor Company Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

The Daimler Motor Company Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

The Jaguar Collection Ltd England and Wales - 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Pension Trustees Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

JLR Nominee Company Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

Jaguar Cars Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

Land Rover Exports Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

Land Rover Ireland Limited Ireland 100% 100%

Jaguar Cars South Africa (Proprietary) Ltd South Africa 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Slovakia s.r.o. Slovakia 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Singapore Pte. Ltd Singapore 100% 100%

Jaguar Racing Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

Details of the indirect subsidiaries are as follows:

 Proportion of ownership

and voting power held (%) 

Name of company  Principal place of

business and

country of

incorporation 
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12 Investment in subsidiary corporations (cont'd)

31-March-19  31-March-18 

InMotion Ventures Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

InMotion Ventures 1 Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

InMotion Ventures 2 Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

InMotion Ventures 3 Limited England and Wales 100% 100%

InMotion Ventures 4 Limited England and Wales 100%  - 

Jaguar Land Rover Colombia SAS Colombia 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover México, S.A.P.I. de C.V.  Mexico 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Servicios México, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Taiwan Company Limited  Taiwan 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Ireland (Services) Limited Ireland 100% 100%

Jaguar Land Rover Classic USA LLC USA 100% -

Jaguar Land Rover Classic Deutschland GmbH Germany 100% -

Hungary Jaguar Land Rover Hungary KFT Hungary 100% -

Spark44 (JV) Limited England and Wales 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Limited England and Wales 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 LLC USA 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Canada Inc Canada 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 GmbH Germany 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Communications S.L. Spain 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 S.r.l Italy 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Pty Limited Australia 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 DMCC UAE 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Seoul Limited South Korea 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Singapore Pte Limited Singapore 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Japan K.K. Japan 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Demand Creation Partners Limited India 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 South Africa Pty Ltd South Africa 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Shanghai China 50.50% 50.50%

Spark44 Taiwan Limited Taiwan 50.50% -

Spark44 Colombia S.A.S Colombia 50.50% -

Subsidiary of PT Tata Motors Indonesia:

PT Tata Motors Distribusi Indonesia Indonesia 100% 100%

Subsidiary of Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Co Ltd

Tata Daewoo Commercial Vehicle Sales and Distribution Co ltd South Korea 100% 100%

Details of the indirect holdings in equity accounted investments are given in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the indirect subsidiary undertakings are as follows:

Proportion of ownership

and voting power held (%)

Name of company  Principal place of

business and 

country of 

incorporation 
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